Emanuel Eichholz

# Optimal spatiotemporal harvest strategies for willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus) in central Norway

Master's thesis in Natural Resource Management Supervisor: Thor Harald Ringsby / Erlend Nilsen / Lasse Frost Eriksen June 2020

NDNN Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biology



**Emanuel Eichholz** 

# Optimal spatiotemporal harvest strategies for willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus) in central Norway

Master's thesis in Natural Resource Management Supervisor: Thor Harald Ringsby / Erlend Nilsen / Lasse Frost Eriksen June 2020

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Natural Sciences Department of Biology



# Abstract

The evolutionary mechanisms and environmental factors that underlie variation in movement behaviors have remained a major challenge in population ecology. This constitutes substantial issues for wildlife managers, as the models that are currently relied upon for making sustainable harvest decisions oftentimes require state-dependent movement as a parameter. Movement is seldomly used in models, an omission which may lead to inaccurate population growth projections and consequently, advise plans of over- or underharvest. As the world faces increased biodiversity loss, unsustainable management of exploited populations can drive populations towards extinctions which may have severe consequences for ecosystems, species, and the human communities that rely on them. This study first investigated the state-specific movements of a population of willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus) in central Norway were investigated. It was found that females moved farther distances than males in terms of seasonal movements between summer and winter season ranges. However, during spring migration no difference was found between adults and juveniles. Sex did not explain variation in breeding dispersal and both male and female adults were found to disperse short distances. Conspecific attraction in juvenile breeding site selection was also investigated, but no evidence for this behavior was found. Nevertheless, further investigation might find conspecific attraction at a finer scale. Second, a harvest model incorporating state-dependent movement patterns was constructed to explore movements effect on population growth rate (lambda,  $\lambda$ ) estimates. Movement had a substantial effect on population growth rate, with a gradating dependency on local management area size, neighboring harvest rates, and temporal harvest strategy. In general, the larger the local management area, the less negative impact on population growth rate was seen as a consequence of neighboring regime. When local harvest rates were equal to the neighboring rate, local management area size had no effect on population growth rate. In this scenario projected growth reflected the estimations of a non-spatial population model. This study shows that when designing management plans based on growth rates projected from harvest models, movement patterns and neighboring regimes are essential factors that should be taken into account. Accordingly, strategies must be planned on a regional level to ensure persistent, sustainable local population dynamics.

# **Table of Contents**

| 1         | Intro        | duction  | 1 |  |  |  |
|-----------|--------------|--|---|--|--|--|
| 2         | Methods4     |  |   |  |  |  |
|           | 2.1          | Study species  | 4 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.2          | Study area   | 5 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.3          | Hypotheses   | 6 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.4          | Data collection  | 8 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.4.1        | Longitudinal study based on marked willow ptarmigans                             | 8 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.4.2        | Local willow ptarmigan population density estimation                             | 9 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.5          | Statistical analyses on individual variation in movement                         | 9 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.5.1        | Seasonal movement  | 9 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.5.2        | Breeding dispersal1  | 0 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.5.3        | Juvenile spring movement1  | 1 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.5.4        | Conspecific attraction1  | 1 |  |  |  |
|           | 2.6          | Harvest models1  | 2 |  |  |  |
| 3 Results |              |  |   |  |  |  |
|           | 3.1          | Empirical movement analysis: State comparison in distance / Movement in Lierne   |   |  |  |  |
|           |              | management cells1  | 6 |  |  |  |
|           | 3.1.1        | Seasonal movement1   | 6 |  |  |  |
|           | 3.1.2        | Breeding dispersal1  | 6 |  |  |  |
|           | 3.1.3        | Juvenile spring movement1  | 7 |  |  |  |
|           | 3.1.4        | Conspecific attraction1  | 7 |  |  |  |
|           | 3.2          | Harvest models: Sustainable hunting quotas for different sized management areas2 | 0 |  |  |  |
| 4         | 1 Discussion |  |   |  |  |  |
|           | 4.1          | Movement2  | 2 |  |  |  |
|           | 4.2          | Management implications24  | 4 |  |  |  |
| 5         | Ackn         | owledgements2  | 7 |  |  |  |
| 6         | Refe         | References2  |   |  |  |  |
| 7         | Appe         | ndices3  | 5 |  |  |  |
|           | 7.1          | Appendix A   | 5 |  |  |  |
|           | 7.2          | Appendix B   | 6 |  |  |  |
|           | 7.3          | Appendix C   | 6 |  |  |  |

# 1 Introduction

Currently, there is an ongoing massive decline in global biodiversity, according to the latest Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES 2019). Among the most substantial drivers of biodiversity loss, the direct exploitation of organisms, including unsustainable hunting, has been ranked second (BirdLife International 2018, IPBES 2019). Hunting wild species for sport and the provision of revenue and protein serve as a core livelihood for many and carry deep rooted cultural and traditional purposes in many parts of the world. Despite this considerable value, hunting wild species isn't without penalty; studies across taxa have found that when conducted unsustainably, hunting can lead to population declines and in turn the collapse of human communities and industries that rely on them (Thiollay 1984, 2005, Kano and Asato 1994, Bennett et al. 1997, Myers et al. 1997, Peres 1997, Gien 2000, Hamilton and Butler 2001, Keane et al. 2005, Packer et al. 2011, Pöysä et al. 2013, BirdLife International 2018). Coupled with an insufficient management regime, these situations can even lead to extinctions, such as in the infamous cases of the passenger pigeon (Ectopistes migratorius) and great auk (Pinguinus impennis) (Gaskall 2000, Lagrot et al. 2008, Baisre 2013, Hung et al. 2014). However, alongside the aforementioned management failures there are a number of species threatened by overharvest that have rebounded as a result of wellinformed policy backed by sustainable strategies (Keiter 1997, Heffelfinger et al. 2013, Krausman and Cain 2013, Rose and Rowe 2015). This has underscored the need for reliable tools in harvest management to curb the planet's loss of biodiversity.

Quantitative matrix population models are among the essential instruments that have repeatedly been used to establish sustainable management systems (Salo et al. 2013). Matrix population models are temporal-based analyses designed to separate a population into distinct stages (i.e. spatial, state) and illustrate the dynamic progression of the population through these phases (Deriso et al. 1991, Caswell 2001, Klanjscek et al. 2006, Salo et al. 2013). When building matrix models, vital rates determine the populations transition through the stages (Caswell 2001). An analysis of these transitions over time provides population growth rate (lambda,  $\lambda$ ) projections, which act as a powerful diagnostic for issues such as threatened species persistence and invasive species spread (Crouse et al. 1987, Bullock et al. 2008, Ezard et al. 2010, Morris et al. 2011). Elasticity and sensitivity analyses are performed to determine the relative importance of the vital rates included in the transition matrix (Crouse et al. 1987, Benton and Grant 1999, Caswell 2001, Stevens 2010, Morris et al. 2011). In addition to the inclusion of empirical estimates of vital rates, such models may also account for harvest. This has been successfully implemented in many studies assessing the influence of hunting on the growth rates and demographic structure of wildlife species (Bunnell and Tait 1980, Cooke et al. 2000, Brooks and Lebreton 2001, Nilsen et al. 2005, Novaro et al. 2005, Stoner et al. 2006, Besnard et al. 2010, Wielgus et al. 2013). Despite their success as an applicable tool in harvest design, matrix models are not a panacea. Stunted by limitations such as an inability to account for changing vital rates in unpredictably transient environments, matrix models are only meant to guide harvest management rather than make exact predictions (Bunnell 1989, Van Mantgem and Stephenson 2005). Accordingly, a balance must be struck between simple and complex models so that enough detail is included to represent the system for management goal applicability and provide insight into system dynamics, all without attempting to mirror reality where understanding is lost due poorly understood interactions (Bunnell 1973, 1974, 1989, Bunnell and Tait 1980). Nonetheless, it has been argued that the inclusion of details on spatial and temporal distribution of harvest is essential when designing matrices for the management of hunted species (Ling and Milner-Gulland 2008). Therefore, demographic movement patterns are relevant parameters to analyze when building accurate models for directing harvest strategy.

Relatively few harvest models used hitherto have explicitly considered movement, thus making the implicit assumption that the managers are dealing with a closed population (Ling and Milner-Gulland 2008, Gervasi et al. 2015). For instance, a review by Novaro et al. (2000) highlighted that a number of studies in the tropics do not consider space in sustainable hunting research but rather compare population production or growth to harvest rates to determine sustainability (Robinson and Redford 1991, Alvard et al. 1997, Slade et al. 1998). Nevertheless, it is already well known that movement patterns (e.g. seasonal movement, migration, and natal dispersal) have major implications on species distribution and population dynamics, especially considering that variation in individual state will influence movement behavior (Madsen and Fox 1995, Clobert et al. 2012, Olsen et al. 2012). State-specific movement is of particular interest because it exposes different subgroups of individuals to factors (e.g. predation, harvest, and environmental conditions) that vary across a spatiotemporal landscape (Bjørnstad et al. 1999, Kendall et al. 2000, Lundberg et al. 2000, Willebrand and Hörnell 2001). Moreover, when movements take individuals beyond the boundaries of a management unit and over a heterogeneous landscape, the dynamics within the units will to some extent be altered. As a result, this will affect the extent and distribution of harvest pressure across a population, potentially undermining strategy intentions with implications for population growth (Pulliam

1988, Novaro et al. 2000, Naranjo and Bodmer 2007, Gervasi et al. 2015). Harvest models that exclude movement as a parameter are vulnerable to inaccurate hunting mortality projections and may misguide policy makers into over- or underharvest (Csányi 1992, Boyce et al. 1999, Jonzén et al. 2001, Willebrand and Hörnell 2001).

As one of Norway's most popular game species, the willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus) is harvested throughout much of its range, entrenching the species within the country's culture and traditions (Storch 2007). However, over the last decades Norway's population has displayed an alarming decline, resulting in the species' introduction to the Norwegian Red List for Species (Henriksen and Hilmo 2015). This has prompted an increased emphasis on developing sustainable harvest strategies. Despite the need for well-informed management, aspects of ptarmigan movement biology and its resulting effects on harvest management remain unknown (Breisjøberget et al. 2018). Global research has shown that although the state-specific movement patterns (i.e. seasonal movement and breeding dispersal) of grouse species follow general trends in behavior, there is variation between species, populations, and individuals (Bendell and Elliott 1967, Eng and Schladweiler 1972, Brøseth et al. 2005). Dispersal is made up of two distinct seasonal movements: the autumn movement from breeding to wintering grounds and vice versa in the spring movement (Moss et al. 2006). These movements may influence spatiotemporally explicit population dynamics with the potential to redistribute populations across borders, consequently distorting management strategy predictions and consequence. Accordingly, further investigations into willow ptarmigan migration and dispersal patterns are important if movement is to be quantified and included in harvest models that explore sustainable harvest design.

In this study I investigated two questions:

- 1. How does individual state (i.e. sex and age) influence variation in movement and conspecific attraction in willow ptarmigan?
- 2. To what extent are spatiotemporal harvest strategies for willow ptarmigan influenced by state-specific movement patterns?

To answer these questions, I first used data from ongoing field projects in Lierne, central Norway to test specific hypotheses (see Hypotheses chapter 2.3) regarding explanations for variations in ptarmigan state-specific movement patterns. Second, I estimated key distance-specific movement rates which, along with survival and recruitment rates, were used as parameters in a novel two-season population matrix model. The model was built to allow for seasonal movements across the boundaries of hypothetical management areas and acted as a

foundation for stochastic simulations designed to investigate population growth rate response to gradating local harvest rates. I explored scenarios comprised of different neighboring harvest rates and local management area sizes. To shed light on the importance of considering movement in sustainable harvest, I compared the resulting trends to trends projected from a model that used the same survival and fecundity rates but excluded movement parameters.

# 2 Methods

## 2.1 Study species

The willow ptarmigan is a medium-sized bird species of the subfamily Tetraonidae, commonly known as grouse. This species is widely distributed within Scandinavia, primarily inhabiting mountainous regions (Lehikoinen et al. 2014, Kvasnes et al. 2015). Willow ptarmigans are unique among other tetraonids in that males continue to help with parental care after eggs are laid, which typically occurs at the end of May (Hannon et al. 1998). The monogamous pair will have 1 clutch each year but might renest if eggs are preyed on (Munkebye et al. 2003). By the beginning of summer, 6 - 12 eggs normally hatch with a highly variable breeding success which, by some long-term studies, has been estimated to between 0.5 - 6 nestlings per pair (Marcstrom et al. 1988, Myrberget 1988, Munkebye et al. 2003, Steen and Haugvold 2009). This variability in breeding success is due in most part to high predation rates of eggs and chicks by mammals, corvids, and raptors (Munkebye et al. 2003, Sandercock et al. 2011, Breisjøberget et al. 2018, Israelsen et al. 2020). Comparably, survival rates in a central Norwegian population averaged 0.43 after the first year of life (Israelsen et al. 2020). Predation by raptors, particularly Gyrfalcon (Falco rusticolus) and Northern goshawk (Accipiter gentilis), is the most frequent cause of natural death year-round (Smith and Willebrand 1999, Brøseth and Pedersen 2010, Breisjøberget et al. 2018). Accordingly, the willow ptarmigan's life cycle is characterized by short generation time, high adult mortality rates, and large reproductive potential.

Previous empirical studies on ptarmigans primarily show that movement patterns are state-dependent and vary between populations and individuals (Hannon et al. 1998, Rorvik et al. 1998, Brøseth et al. 2005, Hörnell-Willebrand et al. 2014). In migratory populations, generally males display short seasonal movements while females migrate longer distances between summer and winter territories (Gruys 1993, Hörnell-Willebrand et al. 2014). However, some studies however have found populations to be non-migratory and the difference between distance moved to vary between years (Bergerud 1970, Mossop 1988, Gruys 1993). Both sexes often return to the same breeding grounds from previous years – ergo, a minimal and similar breeding dispersal distance (Schieck and Hannon 1989, Hannon et al. 1998, Brøseth et al. 2005, Hörnell-Willebrand et al. 2014). Juvenile dispersal in the spring settlement period has been hypothesized by Kvasnes et al. (2015) to be influenced by an attraction to areas with a high abundance of conspecifics, as this may indicate superior habitat quality resulting in high survival rates.

# 2.2 Study area

The data for this study was collected across the Lierne municipality in Eastern Central Norway - primarily, in the administrative management areas of Lifjellet (64°25′-64°30′N, 13°11′-13°24'E and Guslia (64°15'-64°18'N, 13°25'-13°37'E) (Fig. 1). These areas are state-owned common land and are open to the public for hunting willow ptarmigan. The landscape is characterized by a diverse subalpine landscape of mountains, valleys, lakes, forests, open mires, and tundra ranging from elevations of 459 - 757 m above sea level spanning from subalpine to alpine bioclimatic zones (Moen 1998). The area covers 1350 km<sup>2</sup> in total, whereas suitable willow ptarmigan area is calculated to 980 km<sup>2</sup> (Eriksen et al. 2017). The patches of forest community in the subalpine zone are dominated by spruce (Picea abies L.), Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris), and scatterings of mountain birch (Betula pubescens spp. czerepanovii). The shrubbery, interspersed amongst these patches, consists of dwarf birch (Betula nana L.) and willows (Salix spp.). In the lowest elevations, grasses and sedges blanket the mires and ericaceous plants (Ericaceae spp.) cover the forest floors. Higher altitude vegetation comprises of heath, sedges, and lichens. The climate of the last climatological normal period (1961 -1990) in the area saw, on average, annual temperatures of 0 °C and annual precipitations of 920 mm. In most years, the ground is snow-covered between late October and May.



Fig. 1. Map of the Lierne municipality in eastern central Norway with management cells outlined in black. The Lifjellet and Guslia study areas are highlighted in red as is the location of Lierne on the map of larger Norway.

# 2.3 Hypotheses

In order to address whether individual state, such as sex and age, influenced the variation in movement and conspecific attraction of willow ptarmigan in the study area (referring to question 1 in the introduction) I predicted to find the following in regard to the three types of behavior that were investigated in this study:

- Hypothesis H1: Based on empirical knowledge and life-history and movement theory, movement behavior will likely differ among the individual states of sex and age (Hannon et al. 1998, Brøseth et al. 2005, Lebigre et al. 2008, Hörnell-Willebrand et al. 2014, Kvasnes et al. 2015).
  - Prediction P1.1: <u>Seasonal movement</u>: Adult females will move farther distances than adult males during seasonal movements between wintering and breeding grounds (Gruys 1993). Accordingly, more adult females than males will move outside their respective management area during these transition periods.
  - Prediction P1.2: <u>Adult breeding dispersal</u>: Both male and female adults will re-use breeding sites from the previous year resulting in no

difference between sexes in breeding dispersal distance (Hannon et al. 1998, Brøseth et al. 2005). Consequently, individuals from neither sex will be found occupying a management area different from the preceding breeding season.

- Prediction P1.3: <u>Juvenile spring movement</u>: Juveniles will move farther distances than adults during spring when transitioning from wintering to breeding territories (Badyaev et al. 1996, Marjakangas and Kiviniemi 2005).
- Hypothesis H2: An area with a higher density of adults may demonstrate high survival rates or promising reproductive opportunities, thereby influencing breeding settlement preference for first year reproducers (Schieck and Hannon 1989, Kvasnes et al. 2015).
  - Prediction P2.1: <u>Conspecific attraction:</u> Juveniles will move into areas with higher conspecific abundance when establishing their first breeding territory (Kvasnes et al. 2015).

To test the extent to which spatiotemporal harvest strategies for willow ptarmigan are influenced by state-specific movement patterns (referring to question 2 in the introduction) the following hypothesis was put forward:

- Hypothesis H3: State-specific movement of a local population across a heterogenous landscape of neighboring and local harvest regimes will influence population growth rates (Boyce et al. 1999, Hörnell-Willebrand et al. 2014).
  - Prediction P3.1: <u>Harvest model</u>: The annual growth rate of the local population will be influenced by the local area's management zone size and harvest rate and neighboring harvest rates.

The hypotheses were preregistered in the Open Science Framework (OSF) with the Center for Open Science (COS) and have remained the same but have been reworded from their original phrasing for clarity (Eichholz et al. 2019). Refer to Appendix A for the original descriptions.

### 2.4 Data collection

#### 2.4.1 Longitudinal study based on marked willow ptarmigans

Willow ptarmigan were captured during winter in the two study areas of the Lifjellet and Guslia between 2015 and 2020 in Lierne municipality, central Norway, by the Norwegian Institute for Nature Research (NINA) in collaboration with Nord University and local area managers. Each winter approximately 35 - 45 new birds were captured; over the course of the study period 188 birds, including five cohorts, had been marked. The capture method has been to search the study area during winter nights, in February and March. Ptarmigans were detected and captured at random. They were detected from astride snowmobiles using spotlights, which would temporarily stun the birds that looked into the bright light. This would allow the capturers to trap them using long-handled dip nets (Brøseth and Pedersen 2010, Sandercock et al. 2011). Once in-hand, the birds were sexed and aged as either juveniles (<1 year) or adults (>1 year) depending on the researcher's assessment of plumage coloration, weight, size, and pigmentation patterns of the outer primaries (Stavnås 2018). In addition, sex assignment for most birds was confirmed by DNA-analysis using sex-specific microsatellites. The birds were fitted with either a Holohil R1-2B or RI-2D VHF-collar radio transmitter and an identification leg ring. The radio-transmitters were expected to run for 24 months and each weighed 15 grams and have been shown to have little to no influence on tetraonid survival and reproduction rates (Cotter and Gratto 1995, Thirgood et al. 1995). After capture, the birds were monitored using VHF telemetry triangulation, normally at least once each month (with the exception of December and January due to weather and daylight limitations) since February 2015 by NINA biologists and trained land managers and rangers. The transmitter would send a mortality signal after 12 hours of inactivity, at which point researchers would locate the ptarmigan and diagnose the cause of death. Birds were monitored until mortality occurred, or until they were censored (e.g. due to collar failure). The combined set of data collected from the live captures, radio telemetry, and camera traps was used to detail individual variation in ptarmigan life history, phenology, movement, birth and mortality rates, and reproductive success (Smith and Willebrand 1999, Sandercock et al. 2011). Summer season was defined as May 25th to September 25th, and winter season as January 15th to April 15th. Refer to Fig. 2 for willow ptarmigan phenology and seasons.

#### 2.4.2 Local willow ptarmigan population density estimation

Each August, trained personnel from the national monitoring program Hønsefuglportalen surveyed line transects placed across state-owned common land in Lierne municipality to collect data used to estimate local population densities. During the field season, teams of two walked along a predetermined transect while a trained pointing dog searched both sides of the line. When a ptarmigan was flushed by the dog and observed by the volunteer, the species, age, sex, and perpendicular distance from the transect line was noted. The volunteers then took coordinates of the flush site with a GPS and recorded the time of day (Nilsen et al. 2020). Using this suite of information, distance sampling models (Buckland et al. 2001) that incorporate the likelihood of detection and observed distance were produced using the R-package "Distance" (Miller et al. 2019) to estimate ptarmigan density. This study used the results of these models based on distance sampling data collected between 2015 and 2019. In the analysis, I stratified by area and year to obtain annual estimates of density for each management unit. I used a half-normal detection function as a basis for the detection model, being a common approach in distance sampling studies (Buckland et al. 2001).

### 2.5 Statistical analyses on individual variation in movement

The program R version 3.5.1 was used in all statistical analyses (R Core Team 2018). The package "lme4" was used for generalized linear mixed effect model (GLMM) analyses (Bates et al. 2015); "sm" for constructing density plots (Bowman and Azzalini 2014); "ggplot2" for plots (Wickham 2016); and "optiRum" to back transform predictions to their natural scale (Locke 2018). See Appendix B for a map displaying the locations of summer and winter season observations used in the analysis.

#### 2.5.1 Seasonal movement

In order to determine the extent to which adults preformed seasonal migration, I first analyzed whether adults moved into new management areas (intercell movement = 1) or remained within the bounds of the subsequent season's management area (intercell movement = 0) (relating to P1.1). Thus, among 95 observations of a subsample of adults (N = 91) that performed spring migration, a GLMM (binomial family) was composed where intercell movement (0/1) was included as response variable, while an intercept and individual identity as random effect were included as explanatory variables. To test whether adult seasonal movement across management boundaries differed among sexes (P1.1), a GLMM analysis (binomial family) was

built using the same observations and individuals with intercell movement (0/1) as a response variable, sex as an explanatory variable, and individual identity as a random effect.

In order to address whether willow ptarmigan movement distance among adults differed between sexes (addressed in P1.1) a GLMM analysis (gamma family) was conducted using the same subsample of individuals. Rather than fitting a normal linear model to the logs of the data, the gamma family was a more appropriate and effective choice due to the nonsymmetrical and skewed nature of the data (Fu and Moncher 2004). Distance was included as a response variable, sex as a fixed explanatory variable, and individual identity as a random effect. Distance was defined as the distance (km) between an individual's recorded latitude and longitude coordinates during the summer season and their recorded coordinates during the winter season. If an individual was observed multiple times within a single season, then the coordinates used were that of the observation that was most centralized, meaning that it had the shortest cumulative sum distance to all other observations of that individual within the season. To estimate the gamma distribution of seasonal movement distances of males and females and to further illustrate differences in the sexes a kernel model (gamma family) was built using the same variables.

To illustrate the distances moved and the differences between the sexes, the proportions of birds moving farther than 1, 5, and 10 kilometers by sex were estimated from the raw data. In order to test the statistical significance, generalized linear models (GLMs) (binomial family) were used where movement beyond the respective distance was included as a binomial response variable (beyond = 1, within = 0), in addition to sex as a fixed explanatory variable, and individual identity as a random variable (N = 87).

#### 2.5.2 Breeding dispersal

To determine the extent to which willow ptarmigan adults either returned to or remained in the management area during subsequent breeding seasons (intercell dispersal = 0) or established breeding territories in another management area (intercell dispersal = 1) (P1.2), a GLMM model (binomial family) was composed. 33 observations from 29 adults were used. Intercell dispersal (0/1) was included as a response variable, and individual identity as a random variable. To determine whether adult breeding dispersal across management boundaries differed among sexes (P1.2), a GLMM analysis (binomial family) was constructed using the same subset of individuals with intercell dispersal (0/1) as a response variable, sex as an explanatory variable, and individual identity as a random effect. A kernel model (gamma

family) was built using the same variables to again estimate the gamma distribution of breeding dispersal distances of males and females and to highlight differences in the sexes.

To analyze the difference in breeding dispersal between the sexes (P1.2), a GLMM (gamma family) was used where distance (km) was included as the response variable, sex the explanatory variable, and individual identity the random variable (N = 29). The proportions of adults that dispersed farther than the benchmarks of 1, 5, and 10 kilometers were assessed with GLMs (binomial family), using dispersal beyond the respective distance as the response variable (beyond = 1, within = 0), sex the explanatory variable, and individual identification as a random variable (N = 25). The same model was used to test for a significant difference between the sexes in the proportions of adults dispersing beyond each distance benchmark by back transforming the resulting intercepts for both sexes.

#### 2.5.3 Juvenile spring movement

A GLM (gamma family) with movement distance (km) as the response variable and age as the explanatory variable was conducted to test if juveniles moved farther distances than adults post-winter (P1.3). A total of 159 observations of 149 individuals were used in the analysis. To better display the distribution and compare spring movement distances between the two age classes, a kernel model (gamma family) was used with distance (km) as the response variable and age as the explanatory variable.

The proportions of adults and juveniles moving beyond the 1, 5, and 10 km distances were estimated using GLM models (binomial family), where distance moved beyond the respective benchmark was used as a binomial response variable (1/0), age class as the explanatory variable, and individual identification as the random variable.

#### 2.5.4 Conspecific attraction

To test if juveniles would move into management areas with higher conspecific abundance during the spring movement (H2), a GLM (binomial family) was used with conspecific attraction as a response variable. The binomial variable, conspecific attraction, identified if a juvenile has moved into a Lierne management area with higher breeding density than the density of the management area occupied by the same individual during the subsequent winter season (1) or not (0). A GLM (binomial family) was constructed to determine if there was a significant deviance between sexes in individuals displaying conspecific attraction by using conspecific attraction as a response variable and sex as an explanatory variable.

#### 2.6 Harvest models

In order to understand the effects of the movement patterns analyzed above on ptarmigan response to harvest, I integrated these findings, along with other previously analyzed data and stochasticity, into predictive models that simulated different management strategies and circumstances. Of the several families of harvest model framework, the proportional model type was used in this study because the static nature of the strategy best illustrated how long-term growth was influenced by different movement behaviors (Lande et al. 1995). Each situation that was analyzed comprised of one of six local management area sizes and one of three neighboring hunting regimes. The six local management zone sizes in the model had a radius of 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, and 9 kilometers (areas of 3.1, 12.6, 28.3, 78.5, 153.9, and 254.5 km<sup>2</sup> respectively). The four neighboring harvest rates that were used to contrast the local management zone were 0, equal to the harvest rates within the local management zone, 0.14, and 0.20. These 24 different management situations were each subjected to 20 different local harvest quotas ranging between 0 - 0.25.

The simulation (Equation 1), was initiated with a local population vector separated into age and sex demographics (juvenile female, adult female, juvenile male, adult male) (Equation 1. Stage 1). This vector was representative of the local population at the end of summer season prior to harvest and ready to begin the seasonal movement to winter grounds from breeding sites. The population was then split into two by multiplying each demographic in the vector by its respective seasonal movement rate (Equation 1. Stage 2a, b). That migration rate was the proportion of the demographic that, during a seasonal movement, would move farther than the radius of the management zone in the particular test (Equation 1. Stage 2a). This resulted in a demographic vector of migrants (Equation 1. Stage 3a). The resident rates, which were representative of the proportion of each demographic that did not move beyond the distance of the management cell radius (1 - migration rates), were also multiplied by the summer population vector which resulted in a vector of residents (Equation 1. Stage 3b). The two vectors were then put through either the resident or migrant autumn transition matrix (Equation 1. Stage 4a, b). These matrices were made of survival rates. A study by Israelsen et al. (2020) shows that although demographic's survival rates of willow ptarmigan in central Norway vary from year to year, those rates are largely similar over long-term periods and lack any substantial difference between sexes. Accordingly, each demographic had the same survival rate of 0.62  $\pm$  0.04 (Israelsen et al. 2020). The harvest rate used in the resident matrix was one of the 20 harvest levels between 0 and 0.25 and the harvest rates for migrants were one of the four

neighboring harvest levels: 0, equal to the local management area, 0.14, and 0.20. Each transition resulted in a new set of vectors representative of the philopatric and dispersing subpopulations that survived to the end of autumn (Equation 1. Stage 5a, b). These new population vectors went through another set of transition matrices (Equation 1. Stage 6a, b). These matrices, similar to the autumn transitions, included winter survival from natural mortality  $(.73 \pm 0.03)$  and local or neighboring harvest rates (Israelsen et al. 2020). The winter matrices also included stochastic breeding rates to introduce new recruits into the system. The results of these transitions (Equation 1. Stage 7a, b) were added together to simulate the seasonal movement of ptarmigans to breeding grounds within the local management area. This combination was a vector containing the total size of each demographic within the local area prior to the subsequent year's hunting season (Equation 1. Stage 8).

Altogether, the winter and autumn transitions were equivalent to one year. The model ran this cycle 20 times and during each timestep the total population size was recorded. Population sizes from time steps six through 20 were used to calculate the population growth rate under that simulation's particular set of circumstances (management zone size and neighboring harvest strategy) and local harvest quota. Timesteps 1-5 were excluded because the original demographic sizes would influence the population growth rate if not given space to stabilize into appropriately representative numbers. The simulation was also run with all seasonal movement rates equal to 0 to provide a reference population growth rate indicative of non-spatial model estimates.







Equation 1. Harvest model. A – Transition matrix, X – Autumn, W – Winter, M – Migrant, R – Resident, n – Population size, f – Female, m – Male, j – Juvenile, a – Adult, r – Seasonal migration rate, S – Survival, F – Breeding rate, h – Harvest rate.

$$\begin{bmatrix} S_j^x(1-Mh) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & S_a^x(1-Mh) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & S_j^x(1-Mh) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & S_a^x(1-Mh) \end{bmatrix}$$

Equation 1. Stage 4a. [A<sup>XM</sup>] Autumn transition matrix for migrants.

$$\begin{bmatrix} S_j^x(1-Rh) & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & S_a^x(1-Rh) & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & S_j^x(1-Rh) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & S_a^x(1-Rh) \end{bmatrix}$$

Equation 2. Stage 4b. [A<sup>XR</sup>] Autumn transition matrix for residents.

$$\begin{bmatrix} S_j^w (1 - Mh)(\frac{F}{2}) & S_a^w (1 - Mh)(\frac{F}{2}) & 0 & 0 \\ S_j^w (1 - Mh) & S_a^w (1 - Mh) & 0 & 0 \\ S_j^w (1 - Mh)(\frac{F}{2}) & S_a^w (1 - Mh)(\frac{F}{2}) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & S_j^w (1 - Mh) & S_a^w (1 - Mh) \end{bmatrix}$$

Equation 3. Stage 6a. [A<sup>WM</sup>] Winter transition matrix for migrants.

$$\begin{bmatrix} S_{j}^{w}(1-Rh)(\frac{F}{2}) & S_{a}^{w}(1-Rh)(\frac{F}{2}) & 0 & 0\\ S_{j}^{w}(1-Rh) & S_{a}^{w}(1-Rh) & 0 & 0\\ S_{j}^{w}(1-Rh)(\frac{F}{2}) & S_{a}^{w}(1-Rh)(\frac{F}{2}) & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & S_{j}^{w}(1-Rh) & S_{a}^{w}(1-Rh) \end{bmatrix}$$

Equation 4. Stage 6b. [A<sup>XR</sup>] Winter transition matrix for residents.

# 3 Results

# 3.1 Empirical movement analysis: State comparison in distance / Movement in Lierne management cells

#### 3.1.1 Seasonal movement

In general, females moved farther than males (GLMM Gamma,  $\beta = -1.48 \pm 0.37$ , t = -3.95, P < 0.001, Fig. 3a), with a model-predicted movement distance of 4.2 kilometers (95% CI = 2.5 – 7.0 km) for females and 1.0 kilometers (95% CI = 0.6 - 1.7 km) for males. Most males moved less than 1 kilometer while almost all females moved farther than 5 kilometers. Fewer than a tenth of males moved that far, while virtually none moved farther than 10 kilometers. Almost half of all females moved beyond 10 kilometers (Fig. 4a). There was a significant difference in the proportion of females to males that moved beyond these three benchmarks (Table 1a, see Appendix C Table 2 for descriptive statistics).

The proportion of adult willow ptarmigans that crossed the boundaries of Lierne management cells during their seasonal movements was estimated to be 21.1% (SD = 4.0, Fig. 5a). Significantly more willow ptarmigans in Lierne remained within the boundaries of their respective management cell during seasonal movements (GLMM Binomial,  $\beta = -11.53 \pm 2.04$ , Z < 0.01, P < 0.001). There was a significant difference between adult males and females in their propensity to leave the management area during seasonal movement (GLMM Binomial,  $\beta = -3.54 \pm 1.16$ , Z = -3.048, P < 0.01), and 95% of the birds that left their respective management area were females. Accordingly, these results were consistent with previous studies that found substantial differences in seasonal movement distances between the sexes, as addressed in P1.1.

#### 3.1.2 Breeding dispersal

No significant difference was found between the breeding dispersal distances of adult females and males (GLMM Gamma,  $\beta = 0.34 \pm 0.81$ , t = 0.42, P > .05, Fig. 3b). Females moved a model-predicted distance of 0.8 kilometers (95% CI = 0.2 - 2.4 km), and males 0.6 kilometers (95% CI = 0.2 - 1.7 km). In general, about half of females moved beyond 1 kilometer, while slightly less males did (Table 1b, see Appendix C Table 2 for descriptive statistics). Much fewer birds moved farther than 5 kilometers and even less moved more than 10 kilometers (Fig. 4b). There was no substantial difference in the deviance between sexes in the proportions of individuals moving beyond each benchmarked distance supporting P1.2. Only one individual (3.0%, SD = 1.0) moved to another management area between years (Fig. 5b). Because there were almost no birds that were intercell dispersers, there was accordingly no difference between sexes (GLMM Binomial,  $\beta = 191.50 \pm 580.70$ , Z = 0.33, P > .05).

#### 3.1.3 Juvenile spring movement

During spring, the differences in movement distance between the age classes were mostly similar and not statistically significant (GLM Gamma,  $\beta = -0.08 \pm 0.22$ , t = -0.35, P > 0.05, Fig. 3c). Adult and juvenile model predicted movement distances were 1.7 kilometers (95% CI = 1.3 - 2.4 km) and 2.5 kilometers (95% CI = 1.8 - 3.4 km) respectively. Most juveniles and adults moved beyond 1 kilometer. About half of the birds that moved farther than 1 kilometer also moved more than 5 kilometers. Slightly less moved more than 10 kilometers (Fig. 4). There were no significant differences between age classes in the proportion of individuals moving beyond each of the specified distances rejecting P1.3 (Table 1c, see Appendix C Table 2 for descriptive statistics).

#### 3.1.4 Conspecific attraction

Significantly fewer than 50% of the juveniles (4.0%, SD = 1.4) moved into a new management area with a higher abundance of conspecifics during the spring movement (GLMM Binomial,  $\beta = -14.15 \pm 6.59$ , Z = -2.15, P < 0.05), a result not in accordance with P2.1. Additionally, there was no difference between the sexes (GLM Binomial,  $\beta = -18.12 \pm 3546.07$ , Z = -0.005, P > 0.05).



Fig. 3. Distribution of state-specific movement distances regarding (a) seasonal movement (b) breeding dispersal (c) spring movement. Visualized in Tukey's box-and-whisker plots. The horizontal split line = median, 2 hinges = interquartile range (25 - 75% quantiles), vertical whiskers = highest/lowest observations larger/small than or equal to the upper/lower hinge +/- 1.5 \* interquartile range. Data points outside the whiskers = outliers plotted individually.





Fig. 4. Kernel density plots showing the estimated distribution of seasonal movement (a) and breeding dispersal (b) for males (solid line) and females (dashed line). The distribution of spring movement for adults (solid line) or juveniles (dashed line) is shown in plot c. The circles at the top identifying males (a, b) or adults (c) and the diamonds at the bottom for females (a, b) or juveniles (c) are the individual distances used to calculate the scale and shape parameter of the gamma distribution.

Table 1. Proportion of ptarmigans that moved beyond 1, 5, and, 10 km during (a) seasonal movement (b) breeding dispersal (c) spring movement separated by sex or age class. Z-statistics represent the deviance in probability of movement between states. Significance levels are indicated by an asterisk, where \*; P < 0.05, \*\*; P < 0.01 and \*\*\*; P < 0.001. Analysis (a) included 43 males and 44 females, (b) 12 males and 13 females, and (c) 91 adults and 68 juveniles.

|             |          | 1 km     | 5 km     | 10 km   |
|-------------|----------|----------|----------|---------|
| a. Seasonal | Male     | 44.2%    | 9.3%     | 2.3%    |
| movement    | Female   | 86.4%    | 56.8%    | 38.6%   |
|             | Z-value  | -3.88*** | -4.21*** | -3.10** |
| b. Breeding | Male     | 41.7%    | 16.7%    | 8.3%    |
| dispersal   | Female   | 53.9%    | 15.4%    | 7.7%    |
|             | Z-value  | 0.81     | 0.09     | 0.06    |
| c. Spring   | Adult    | 65.8%    | 28.1%    | 19.0%   |
| movement    | Juvenile | 72.6%    | 28.2%    | 19.1%   |
|             | Z-value  | 0.92     | 0.05     | 0.03    |



Fig. 5. Frequency of adults that displayed intercell (i.e. those that crossed the management area boarders) and intracell (i.e. those that remained within the management area boarders) movement behaviors. (a) Seasonal movement (b) Breeding dispersal.

# 3.2 Harvest models: Sustainable hunting quotas for different sized management areas

Introducing management strategies to the population matrix models had substantial consequences for the local population growth rate. The results based on the simulations revealed that the local population growth rate was strongly dependent on the harvest rate in the neighboring management area as well as on the size of the local management area.

When the harvest rate in the neighbor management area was equal to the local harvest rate (Fig. 6a), the local population growth rate was not dependent on the size of the local area.

In the scenario with a more intensive neighboring harvest rate (0.14) (Fig. 6b), increasing the rate of local harvest strongly affected population growth rate. The strength of this effect was strongly dependent on the size of the local management area. In general, the larger the local area (indicated by the colored slopes in Fig. 6), the less negative impact on population growth was seen as a consequence of the higher neighboring harvest rate (0.14)This was because as local area size increased less individuals moved beyond the area's boundaries during autumn movement to establish wintering territories where they were exposed to neighboring winter harvest. Consequently, larger management areas saw more harvest mortality from local hunting, thus increasing the influence of local harvest rates on population growth. When the local harvest quota was below neighboring rates, the largest management areas saw the highest levels of population growth and smaller areas saw the lowest. As local harvest rates approached the neighboring rate (0.14), the effect of local management area size on population growth rate decreased, and the predicted growth more closely reflected the predictions of a non-spatial population model, i.e. where movement was not taken into consideration (indicated by the black slopes in Fig. 6). This was due to the fact that ptarmigans that crossed management borders would be hunted to a similar extent, making a moot point of transboundary movement. When local rates were higher than neighboring quotas the effects of size were reversed, and larger management areas saw growth rates lower than smaller management areas. Increasing the neighboring harvest rate to 0.20 (Fig. 6c) showed a similar pattern to the preceding scenario but highlighted that an increase in neighboring rates garnered a stronger negative effect on population growth. This pattern would be seen in all management areas with the exception of one theoretically large enough to encompass all ptarmigan movement within the area, effectively closing the system.

Next, in a situation where there was no neighboring harvest (Fig. 6d), increasing local harvest rates had the steepest negative effect on population growth rates in the largest management areas. This effect lessens as management area size decreases, considering that the smallest areas would have the most ptarmigans leaving its boundaries into unhunted refugia.



Fig. 6. Response on local population growth rate ( $\lambda$ ) to local harvest quotas for different sized management areas with a neighboring harvest rate of (a) an equal value to that of local regimes; here each colored line has overlapped one another as would be expected in a closed population, (b) 0.14, (c) 0.20, and (d) 0. Along the x-axis is a scale of local hunting rates between 0 and 0.25. The y-axis represents the population growth rate ( $\lambda$ ). Six of the colored lines are representative of local management area size. The black line illustrates what the population growth rate = 1) indicates a separation between population sizes that are increasing (Population growth rate > 1) or declining (Population growth rate < 1).

# 4 Discussion

In this study, a clear sexual difference in seasonal movement distance was found with females moving larger distances than males. However, there was no sexual bias found regarding breeding dispersal distance. There was also no difference found in movement distances between adult and juvenile classes during the spring movement. Based on a simulation model, these movements were found to create dependency between the local and neighboring harvest regimes; further, the extent of the dependency was itself dependent on the size of the management areas and the chosen harvest quota. Accordingly, the study has revealed that making sustainable management plans benefits from including specific knowledge of vital rates and movement patterns. Movement incentivizes corporation across management units and plans that ignore this potentially risk over- or underharvest. These consequences carry a particular weight in heavily harvested, red-listed species, as is the case of the willow ptarmigan in Norway.

## 4.1 Movement

Understanding the factors that shape variation in state-dependent movement strategies (i.e. seasonal movement and breeding dispersal) has been a major challenge in population ecology (Clobert et al. 2012). The present study revealed that seasonal movements differed between sexes, with females moving greater distances than males (as predicted in  $H_1P_{1.1}$ ). At least three different hypotheses might explain the observed sex-biased patterns. First, males might remain close to breeding territories over the winter in order to ensure their occupancy in subsequent breeding seasons (Forero et al. 1999, Alerstam et al. 2003). Second, males may be adapted to philopatry because they are larger and able to sustain themselves for longer periods with lower resources, but for the smaller females it may be advantageous to move during winter in search of more favorable conditions (Alerstam et al. 2003, Guillaume and Perrin 2009). The third potential explanation is that the longer movement of adult females during spring is a learned behavior (Rogers 1969). Because juvenile females tend to have longer natal dispersal distances between summer and winter ranges potentially to avoid intersexual competition, (Pusey 1987) it is possible that they might then continue to repeat that behavior as adults.

Many bird species display strong breeding-site fidelity (Andersson 1980). In the present study, most male and female adult ptarmigans reused to the same breeding grounds from the preceding year, naturally resulting in minute breeding dispersal distances with no influence from sex, supporting  $H_1P_{1,2}$ . This is consistent with behaviors seen in other ptarmigan

populations (Hannon et al. 1998, Brøseth et al. 2005), bird species, and taxa such as mammals and amphibians (Andersson 1980, Matthiopoulos et al. 2005, Smith and Green 2005, Baker et al. 2013). Similar to the retracing of seasonal movement routes, the reuse of previously occupied breeding grounds could increase individual fitness by exposing individuals to habitats with which they are already familiar, which would in turn facilitate antipredator and foraging strategies (Greenwood 1980, Pärt 1991). However, the variation in movement behavior may change over time as environmental conditions change, thereby altering the benefits of a philopatric strategy (Smith and Green 2005, Clobert et al. 2012, Abrahms et al. 2018).

Studies have suggested that for populations that move between winter and breeding areas, older individuals with higher social status and physiological advantages as well as a local familiarity tend to move shorter distances and more quickly settle in suitable breeding habitats (i.e. the dominance hypothesis (Badyaev et al. 1996))(Johnson and Gaines 1990, Badyaev et al. 1996). Consequently, it is expected that younger, subordinate individuals will move farther than adults in search of breeding territories. It is likely that seasonal movement in willow ptarmigans may increase mortality risk due to increased physiological exhaustion and exposure to avian predators such as gyrfalcon (*Falco rusticolus*) and northern goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*) (Johnson and Gaines 1990, Smith and Willebrand 1999, Alerstam et al. 2003). Thus, shorter distance movements may reduce the probability of mortality. Considering the aforementioned dominance hypothesis, there is potential for age-bias in willow ptarmigan spring movement distance (Johnson and Gaines 1990). However, in the current study no difference was found between age classes in the distances moved during the spring movement, rejecting  $H_1P_{1.3}$ .

Studies on black tailed-deer (*Odocoileus hemionus columbianus*), ruffed grouse (*Bonasa umbellus*) and collared flycatcher (*Ficedula albicollis*) have shown that individuals that reuse sites with which they are familiar have increased survival probabilities (Pärt 1995, Yoder et al. 2004, Forrester et al. 2015). It has been suggested that this advantage explains why individuals in some species (e.g. spruce grouse (*Falcipennis canadensis*)) seemingly retrace routes taken as juveniles (Schroeder 1985, Hörnell-Willebrand et al. 2014). Retracing was not explicitly investigated in the current study, but this behavior might explain account for the lack of difference found between age classes regarding seasonal movement distances.

Based on a study exploring the spatial dynamics of willow ptarmigan in Norway Kvasnes et al. (2015) suggest that juveniles are attracted to areas of high conspecific abundance during the spring settlement period. In contrast, most juveniles observed in the present study did not move into areas with higher conspecific abundance after leaving their first-year winter settlement; in fact, only two individuals moved into management cells with higher densities. These results seem to contradict Kvasnes' suggestion as well as findings in studies on songbird species in which individuals exhibited an affinity towards conspecifics by settling in high-density sites using high abundance as a cue for habitat quality (Stamps 1988, Muller et al. 1997, Ward and Schlossberg 2004, Ahlering et al. 2010, Kvasnes et al. 2015). However, a limitation of this study is that conspecific attraction would not have been detected in the analysis if juveniles were in fact using density as a cue but just at a smaller spatial scale than the size of the management area. In light of this limitation, the present study's results are not conclusive. Thus, the idea suggested by Kvasnes et al. (2015) might still hold even if it were not supported on the scale investigated in this analysis.

# 4.2 Management implications

The present study, which illustrates a harvested population with state-dependent seasonal movement and high breeding-site fidelity, is exemplary of a system in which population growth rates are highly dependent on both local and neighboring management regimes due to potential cyclic movement across management area boundaries. This study used the proportional harvest model, but because the results are general trends on growth rate response to movement and harvest strategy, the findings could be incorporated into other harvesting models. While using alternative harvest regime strategies would influence the model's projections of the population growth rate, its principles would remain unchanged.

The incorporation of state-dependent seasonal movement patterns into harvest models revealed that the consideration of movement had an effect on population growth estimates across a heterogenous landscape (Fig. 6). Depending on an area's size, a frequency of each demographic group was liable to migrate outside its boundaries during seasonal movement where individuals were influenced by the surrounding regime prior to return. This affected local population growth differently than when the entire population was exposed to a single harvest strategy (Fig. 6a). According to Novaro et al. (2000), Gervasi et al. (2015) and Ling and Milner-Gulland (2008), non-spatial models with this intrinsic assumption of uniform harvest are oftentimes used. These types of models have the potential to misinform managers, ultimately resulting in overharvest. When neighboring harvest rates were higher than local rates (Fig. 6b, c) this resulted in a lower local population growth compared to predictions from the non-spatial model (the black line, Fig. 6). This was especially true when local management

area was small, resulting in local population growth rates well below 1 (the dashed line, Fig. 6b, c), indicating a decline in local population size. The findings here align with other studies conducted across harvested taxa (e.g. mammals, fish, birds), which emphasized that individuals entering the breeding population in the spring may largely be individuals returning from their seasonal movement, as opposed to compensatory immigrants from neighbor populations (Boyce et al. 1999, Kokko 2001, Novaro et al. 2005, Gervasi et al. 2015). This dynamic may attribute to growth rate estimation differences between spatial and non-spatial models (Novaro et al. 2005). The degree to which the local population growth rates were lower changed in direct response to local management area size. Accordingly, managers of smaller areas must be more conscientious of neighboring strategies than managers of larger areas whose regimes have a comparably greater influence on population growth rates. Conversely, non-spatial models can also miss possibilities for greater harvest. When neighboring harvest rates were lower than local rates (i.e. to the right of 0.14 and 0.20 in Fig. 6b and c, respectively, and in Fig. 6d) the local population growth rates were higher than growth rates estimated by the nonspatial model predictions (indicated by black slopes in Fig. 6b, c and, d). In such cases, including movement in harvest models can further optimize harvest, generating more income from fee-paying hunters and avoiding prospective enviornmental damage from an overpopulated species, (e.g. overbrowsing from ungulates) (Clutton-Brock et al. 2002, Milner-Gulland et al. 2004). Although spatially explicit harvest models can help optimize harvest management decisions, the model in this study is best used to understand general principles rather than act as a predictive framework. To more accurately reflect potential for further harvest, other parameters such as spatial heterogenous population distribution and local density dependence should be taken into account.

In addition to demonstrating the effects of hunting regimes, the population projection model approach used in the present study could also shed light on aspects related to conservation. The local management area may be viewed as a protected zone when the local harvest rate equals 0. Accordingly, projections from the spatial model demonstrated that when mortality outside the protected area was higher than inside (Fig. 6b, c), local population growth rate decreased correspondingly with protected area size. This aspect of the model can be useful for estimating the optimal biologically relevant size for protected areas and their buffer zones (McCullough 1996, Willebrand and Hörnell 2001, Schaub et al. 2010). For instance, such a situation has been described for the wolverine (*Gulo gulo*) in Scandinavia (Gervasi et al. 2015), in which movement between hunted (in Norway) and non-hunted (in Sweden) areas created a

source-sink dynamic. If a protected area is not appropriately sized this dynamic could bias movement from the protected area to areas with higher mortality, potentially diminishing conservation goals (Gervasi et al. 2015).

The present study demonstrates how the consequences of harvesting in heterogeneous management landscapes can be analyzed in realistic population projection models by combining essential life history data from various sources. In expanding this work there should be an emphasis on collecting more data on the influence of phenotypic variation determining both variation in movement and the survival of migrants. For instance, in some species, individuals with higher body mass have an increased overwinter survival, which influences the frequency distribution regarding quality and size of the breeding individuals after a particularly harsh winter (Newton 1993, Festa-Bianchet et al. 1997, Schorr et al. 2009). Additionally, the size of individuals in some migratory bird species has been shown to affect migration distance (Alerstam et al. 2003, Gray et al. 2014). If individual variation in size is correlated with movement distance in willow ptarmigan, this would potentially add a size bias to the portion of the population exposed to neighboring management regimes. These factors could influence both the phenotypic distribution of the adult breeding population as well as the phenotypic distribution of the new cohort and other factors possibly linked to body size (e.g. clutch size, and onset of breeding (Hannon et al. 1988, Elks et al. 2012)), which may consequently impact management goals. Nevertheless, the key message of the findings in the present study is the dependency on neighboring regimes which is subject to change with the size of the local management area. This dependency is also affected by the time of harvest. For populations with strong breeding site fidelity, adjusting harvest to exclude winter would exempt seasonal migrants from the influence of neighboring harvest. These principles underscore the necessity of effectively communicating and coordinating strategies with neighbors for the benefit of wild species and the human communities reliant upon their harvest for revenue and sustenance.

# 5 Acknowledgements

Without a doubt, I first need to extend my very deepest and most sincere thanks to my advisors: Thor Harald, Erlend, and Lasse. Since the very first day of this project, you have all been kind, patient, and absolute wonderful to work with. Not once have I felt unsupported and the time you all have invested in my education and growth as a scientist has not gone unnoticed or unappreciated. Looking back on my first days at NTNU, I am nothing short of shocked by how much I have learned from you all. You have been true mentors.

My Natural Resource Management peers, NARM folk, NARMies, and now fellow graduates; because of you all, pursing my Master's degree was not only an education but an experience, full of laughter, adventures, dancing, games, and celebration. Each one of you contributed to a beautiful community that has been core to my success and happiness. Thank you all and I very much look forward to seeing each one of you again.

My dear girlfriend Alison, I would have to write another thesis to describe all the ways you have supported me through this project and degree. It would become a set of volumes by the time I finished describing all the ways in which I appreciate it. However, I wouldn't be able to capture in text just how much I love you. Thank you for your strength, encouragement, for being my best friend, and just for being you. You are very loved.

And finally, I would like to thank my family. All of you have been a never-ending stream of comfort, love, and laughter. It goes beyond moral and supplementary support. I only find myself here today because you have actively taken part in my journey and sought out avenues for me to be who I want to be. I owe the future that I can build with this education to you guys. I love you all.

Thank you everyone! You have all helped me realize a dream.

# 6 References

- Abrahms, B., E. L. Hazen, S. J. Bograd, J. S. Brashares, P. W. Robinson, K. L. Scales, D. E. Crocker, and D. P. Costa. 2018. Climate mediates the success of migration strategies in a marine predator. Ecology Letters 21:63–71.
- Ahlering, M. A., D. Arlt, M. G. Betts, R. J. Fletcher, J. J. Nocera, and M. P. Ward. 2010. Research needs and recommendations for the use of conspecific-attraction methods in the conservation of migratory songbirds. The Condor 112:252–264.
- Alerstam, T., A. Hedenström, and S. Åkesson. 2003. Long-distance migration: Evolution and determinants. Oikos 103:247–260.
- Alvard, M. S., J. G. Robinson, K. H. Redford, and H. Kaplan. 1997. The sustainability of subsistence hunting in the neotropics: La sustentabilidad de la caza de subsistencia en el neotrópico. Conservation Biology 11:977–982.
- Andersson, M. 1980. Nomadism and site tenacity as alternative reproductive tactics in birds. The Journal of Animal Ecology 49:175–184.
- Badyaev, A. V., W. J. Etges, and T. E. Martin. 1996. Age-biased spring dispersal in male wild turkeys. The Auk 113:240-242.
- Baisre, J. A. 2013. Shifting baselines and the extinction of the Caribbean monk seal. Conservation Biology 27:927–935.
- Baker, C. S., D. Steel, J. Calambokidis, E. Falcone, U. González-Peral, J. Barlow, A. M. Burdin, P. J. Clapham, J. K. B. Ford, C. M. Gabriele, D. Mattila, L. Rojas-Bracho, J. M. Straley, B. L. Taylor, J. Urbán, P. R. Wade, D. Weller, B. H. Witteveen, and M. Yamaguchi. 2013. Strong maternal fidelity and natal philopatry shape genetic structure in North Pacific humpback whales. Marine Ecology Progress Series 494:291–306.
- Bates, D., M. Maechler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker. 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67:1–48.
- Bendell, J. F., and P. W. Elliott. 1967. Behaviour and the regulation of numbers in blue grouse. Canadian Wildlife Service Report Series. Fourth edition. Queen's Printer and Controller of Stationery, Ottawa, Canada.
- Bennett, E. L., A. J. Nyaoi, and J. Sompud. 1997. Hornbills Buceros spp. and culture in northern Borneo: Can they continue to co-exist? Biological Conservation 82:41–46.
- Benton, T. G., and A. Grant. 1999. Elasticity analysis as an important tool in evolutionary and population ecology. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 14:467–471.
- Bergerud, A. T. 1970. Population dynamics of the willow ptarmigan Lagopus lagoups alleni L. in Newfoundland 1955 to 1965. Oikos 21:299–325.
- Besnard, A., C. Novoa, and O. Gimenez. 2010. Hunting impact on the population dynamics of Pyrenean grey partridge Perdix perdix hispaniensis. Wildlife Biology 16:135–143.
- BirdLife International. 2018. State of the world's birds: Taking the pulse of the planet. Cambridge, United Kingdom, BirdLife International.
- Bjørnstad, O. N., R. A. Ims, and X. Lambin. 1999. Spatial population dynamics: Analyzing patterns and processes of population synchrony. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 14:427–432.
- Bowman, A. W., and A. Azzalini. 2014. R package "sm": Nonparametric smoothing methods. version 2.2-5.6. http://www.stats.gla.ac.uk/~adrian/sm.
- Boyce, M. S., A. R. E. Sinclair, and G. C. White. 1999. Seasonal compensation of predation and harvesting. Oikos 87:419–426.
- Breisjøberget, J. I., M. Odden, T. Storaas, E. B. Nilsen, and M. A. J. Kvasnes. 2018. Harvesting a red-listed species: Determinant factors for willow ptarmigan harvest rates, bag sizes, and hunting efforts in Norway. European Journal of Wildlife Research 64.
- Brooks, E. N., and J. D. Lebreton. 2001. Optimizing removals to control a metapopulation:

Application to the yellow legged herring gull (Larus cachinnans). Ecological Modelling 136:269–284.

- Brøseth, H., and H. C. Pedersen. 2010. Disturbance effects of hunting activity in a willow ptarmigan Lagopus lagopus population. Wildlife Biology 16:241–248.
- Brøseth, H., J. Tufto, H. C. Pedersen, H. Steen, and L. Kastdalen. 2005. Dispersal patterns in a harvested willow ptarmigan population. Journal of Applied Ecology 42:453-459.
- Buckland, S. T., S. Lutz, D. R. Anderson, K. P. Burnham, and J. L. Laake. 2001. Introduction to distance sampling: Estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford University Press, New York, New York.
- Bullock, J. M., R. F. Pywell, and S. J. Coulson-Phillips. 2008. Managing plant population spread: Prediction and analysis using a simple model. Ecological Applications 18:945–953.
- Bunnell, F. L. 1973. Theological ecology or models and the real world. The Forestry Chronicle 49:167–171.
- Bunnell, F. L. 1974. Computer simulation of forest-wildlife relations. Pages 39–50 in H. C. Black, editor. Wildlife and forest management in the Pacific Northwest. School of Forestry, Oregan State University, Corvalis, Oregon.
- Bunnell, F. L., and D. E. N. Tait. 1980. Bears in models and in reality: Implications to management. Bears: Their Biology and Management 4:15–23.
- Bunnell, F. L. 1989. Alchemy and uncertainty: What good are models? Pages 1-27 in Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-232. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, Oregon.
- Caswell, H. 2001. Matrix Population Models: Construction, Analysis, and Interpretation. Second edition. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachusetts.
- Clobert, J., M. Baguette, T. G. Benton, and J. M. Bullock. 2012. Dispersal Ecology and Evolution. Oxford University Press, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Clutton-Brock, T. H., T. N. Coulson, E. J. Milner-Guiland, D. Thomson, and H. M. Armstrong. 2002. Sex differences in emigration and mortality affect optimal management of deer populations. Nature 415:633-637.
- Cooke, F., C. Francis, E. Cooch, and R. Alisauskasc. 2000. Impact of hunting on population growth of mid-continent Lesser Snow Geese. Pages 17–31 *in* H. Boyd, editor. Occasional Paper nr. 102 of the Canadian Wildlife Service. Burnaby, Canada.
- Cotter, R. C., and C. J. Gratto. 1995. Effects of nest and brood visits and radio transmitters on rock ptarmigan. The Journal of Wildlife Management 59:93–98.
- Crouse, D. T., L. B. Crowder, and H. Caswell. 1987. A stage-based population model for loggerhead sea turtles and implications for conservation. Ecology 68:1412–1423.
- Csányi, S. 1992. Red deer population dynamics in Hungary: Management statistics versus modeling. Pages 37–42 in R. D. Brown, editor. The Biology of Deer. Springer, New York, NY.
- Deriso, R. B., R. G. Punsly, and W. H. Bayliff. 1991. A Markov movement model of yellowfin tuna in the eastern Pacific Ocean and some analyses for international management. Fisheries Research 11:375–394.
- Eichholz, E., E. B. Nislen, T. H. Ringsby, and L. F. Eriksen. 2019. Preregistered hypothesis and analysis plans: Optimal spatiotemporal harvest strategies for Willow Ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus). Center for Open Science (COS) Open Science Framework (OSF). https://osf.io/h9pez/.
- Elks, C. E., M. den Hoed, J. H. Zhao, S. J. Sharp, N. J. Wareham, R. J. F. Loos, and K. K. Ong. 2012. Variability in the heritability of body mass index: A systematic review and meta-regression. Frontiers in Endocrinology 3:29.
- Eng, R. L., and P. Schladweiler. 1972. Sage grouse winter movements and habitat use in central Montana. The Journal of Wildlife Management 36:141–146.

- Eriksen, L. F., P. F. Moa, and E. B. Nilsen. 2017. Quantifying risk of overharvest when implementation is uncertain. Journal of Applied Ecology 55:482–493.
- Ezard, T. H. G., J. M. Bullock, H. J. Dalgleish, A. Millon, F. Pelletier, A. Ozgul, and D. N. Koons. 2010. Matrix models for a changeable world: The importance of transient dynamics in population management. Journal of Applied Ecology 47:515–523.
- Festa-Bianchet, M., J. T. Jorgenson, C. H. Berube, C. Portier, and W. D. Wishart. 1997. Body mass and survival of bighorn sheep. Canadian Journal of Zoology 75:1372–1379.
- Forero, M. G., J. A. Donázar, J. Blas, and F. Hiraldo. 1999. Causes and consequences of territory change and breeding dispersal distance in the black kite. Ecology 80:1298–1310.
- Forrester, T. D., D. S. Casady, and H. U. Wittmer. 2015. Home sweet home: Fitness consequences of site familiarity in female black-tailed deer. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 69:603–612.
- Fu, L., and R. B. Moncher. 2004. Severity distributions for GLMs: Gamma or lognormal? Evidence from Monte Carlo simulations. Pages 149–230 Casualty Actuarial Society Discussion Paper Program.
- Gaskall, J. 2000. Who Killed the Great Auk? Oxford Univsersity Press, New York, New York.
- Gervasi, V., H. Brøseth, E. B. Nilsen, H. Ellegren, Ø. Flagstad, and J. D. C. Linnell. 2015. Compensatory immigration counteracts contrasting conservation strategies of wolverines (Gulo gulo) within Scandinavia. Biological Conservation 191:632–639.
- Gien, L. T. 2000. Land and sea connection: The east coast fishery closure, unemployment and health. Canadian Journal of Public Health 92:121–124.
- Gray, C. E., J. D. Paruk, C. R. DeSorbo, L. J. Savoy, D. E. Yates, M. D. Chickering, R. B. Gray, K. M. Taylor, D. Long, N. Schoch, W. Hanson, J. Cooley, and D. C. Evers. 2014. Body mass in common loons (Gavia immer) strongly associated with migration distance. Waterbirds 37:64–75.
- Greenwood, P. J. 1980. Mating systems, philopatry and dispersal in birds and mammals. Animal Behaviour 28:1140–1162.
- Gruys, R. C. 1993. Autumn and winter movements and sexual segregation of willow ptarmigan. Arctic 46:228–239.
- Guillaume, F., and N. Perrin. 2009. Inbreeding load, bet hedging, and the evolution of sex-biased dispersal. American Naturalist 173:536–541.
- Hamilton, L. C., and M. J. Butler. 2001. Outport adaptations: Social indicators through Newfoundland's cod crisis. Human Ecology Review 8:1-11.
- Hannon, S. J., P. K. Eason, and K. Martin. 1998. Willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus), version 2.0. The Birds of North America. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.2173/bna.369.
- Hannon, S. J., K. Martin, and J. O. Schieck. 1988. Timing of reproduction in two populations of willow ptarmigan in northern Canada. The Auk 105:330–338.
- Heffelfinger, J. R., V. Geist, and W. Wishart. 2013. The role of hunting in North American wildlife conservation. International Journal of Environmental Studies 70:399–413.
- Henriksen, S., and O. Hilmo, editors. 2015. Norsk rødliste for arter 2015. Artsdatabanken, Norge.
- Hörnell-Willebrand, M., T. Willebrand, and A. A. Smith. 2014. Seasonal movements and dispersal patterns: Implications for recruitment and management of willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus). Journal of Wildlife Management 78:194–201.
- Hung, C. M., P. J. L. Shaner, R. M. Zink, W. C. Liu, T. C. Chu, W. S. Huang, and S. H. Li. 2014. Drastic population fluctuations explain the rapid extinction of the passenger pigeon. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111:10636– 10641.
- IPBES. 2019. Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and

ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. S. Díaz, J. Settele, E. S. Brondízio E.S., H. T. Ngo, M. Guèze, J. Agard, A. Arneth, P. Balvanera, K. A. Brauman, S. H. M. Butchart, K. M. A. Chan, L. A. Garibaldi, K. Ichii, J. Liu, S. M. Subramanian, G. F. Midgley, P. Miloslavich, Z. Molnár, D. Obura, A. Pfaff, S. Polasky, A. Purvis, J. Razzaque, B. Reyers, R. Roy Chowdhury, Y. J. Shin, I. J. Visseren-Hamakers, K. J. Willis, and C. N. Zayas, editors. IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany.

- Israelsen, M. F., L. F. Eriksen, P. F. Moa, B. R. Hagen, and E. B. Nilsen. 2020. Survival and causespecific mortality of harvested willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus) in central Norway. EcoEvoRxiv. https://doi.org/10.32942/osf.io/fytka.
- Johnson, M. L., and M. S. Gaines. 1990. Evolution of dispersal: Theoretical models and empirical tests using birds and mammals. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 21:449–480.
- Jonzén, N., P. Lundberg, and A. Gårdmark. 2001. Harvesting spatially distributed populations. Wildlife Biology 7:197–203.
- Kano, T., and R. Asato. 1994. Hunting pressure on chimpanzees and gorillas in the Motaba river area, northeastern Congo. African Study Monographs 15:143–162.
- Keane, A., M. D. L. Brooke, and P. J. K. McGowan. 2005. Correlates of extinction risk and hunting pressure in gamebirds (Galliformes). Biological Conservation 126:216–233.
- Keiter, R. B. 1997. Greater Yellowstone's bison: Unraveling of an early American wildlife conservation achievement. The Journal of Wildlife Management 61:1–11.
- Kendall, B. E., O. N. Bjørnstad, J. Bascompte, T. H. Keitt, and W. F. Fagan. 2000. Dispersal, environmental correlation, and spatial synchrony in population dynamics. American Naturalist 155:628-636.
- Klanjscek, T., H. Caswell, M. G. Neubert, and R. M. Nisbet. 2006. Integrating dynamic energy budgets into matrix population models. Ecological Modelling 196:407–420.
- Kokko, H. 2001. Optimal and suboptimal use of compensatory responses to harvesting: Timing of hunting as an example. Wildlife Biology 7:141–150.
- Krausman, P. R., and J. W. Cain. 2013. Wildlife management and conservation: Contemporary principles and practices. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, Maryland.
- Kvasnes, M. A. J., H. C. Pedersen, H. Solvang, T. Storaas, and E. B. Nilsen. 2015. Spatial distribution and settlement strategies in willow ptarmigan. Population Ecology 57:151–161.
- Lagrot, I., J.-F. Lagrot, and P. Bour. 2008. Probable extinction of the western black rhino, Diceros bicornis longipes: 2006 survey in northern Cameroon. Pachyderm 43:19–28.
- Lande, R., S. Engen, and B. E. Saether. 1995. Optimal harvesting of fluctuating populations with a risk of extinction. American Naturalist 145:728–745.
- Lebigre, C., R. V. Alatalo, H. E. Forss, and H. Siitari. 2008. Low levels of relatedness on black grouse leks despite male philopatry. Molecular Ecology 17:4512–4521.
- Lehikoinen, A., M. Green, M. Husby, J. A. Kålås, and Å. Lindström. 2014. Common montane birds are declining in northern Europe. Journal of Avian Biology 45:3–14.
- Ling, S., and E. J. Milner-Gulland. 2008. When does spatial structure matter in models of wildlife harvesting? Journal of Applied Ecology 45:63–71.
- Locke, S. 2018. optiRum: Financial Functions & More. R package version 0.40.1. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=optiRum.
- Lundberg, P., E. Ranta, J. Ripa, and V. Kaitala. 2000. Population variability in space and time. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 15:460–464.
- Madsen, J., and A. D. Fox. 1995. Impacts of hunting disturbance on waterbirds a review. Wildlife Biology 1:193–207.
- Marcstrom, V., R. E. Kenward, and E. Engren. 1988. The impact of predation on boreal tetraonids during vole cycles: an experimental study. The Journal of Animal Ecology 57:859–872.

- Marjakangas, A., and S. Kiviniemi. 2005. Dispersal and migration of female black grouse Tetrao tetrix in eastern central Finland. Ornis Fennica 82:107–116.
- Matthiopoulos, J., J. Harwood, and L. Thomas. 2005. Metapopulation consequences of site fidelity for colonially breeding mammals and birds. Journal of Animal Ecology 74:716–727.
- McCullough, D. R. 1996. Spatially Structured Populations and Harvest Theory. The Journal of Wildlife Management 60:1–9.
- Miller, D. L., E. Rexstad, L. Thomas, L. Marshall, and J. L. Laake. 2019. Distance Sampling in R. Journal of Statistical Software 89:1–28.
- Milner-Gulland, E. J., T. Coulson, and T. H. Clutton-Brock. 2004. Sex differences and data quality as determinants of income from hunting red deer Cervus elaphus. Wildlife Biology 10:187– 201.
- Moen, A. 1998. Nasjonalatlas for Norge: Vegetasjon. Hønefoss: Statens kartverk.
- Morris, J. A., K. W. Shertzer, and J. A. Rice. 2011. A stage-based matrix population model of invasive lionfish with implications for control. Biological Invasions 13:7–12.
- Moss, R., N. Picozzi, and D. C. Catt. 2006. Natal dispersal of capercaillie Tetrao urogallus in northeast Scotland. Wildlife Biology 12:227-232.
- Mossop, D. H. 1988. Winter survival and spring breeding strategies of willow ptarmigan. Pages 330–378 *in* A. T. Bergerud and M. W. Gratson, editors. Adaptive strategies and population ecology of northern grouse. University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, Minnesota.
- Muller, K. L., J. A. Stamps, V. V. Krishnan, and N. H. Willits. 1997. The effects of conspecific attraction and habitat quality on habitat selection in territorial birds (Troglodytes aedon). The American Naturalist 150:650–661.
- Munkebye, E., H. C. Pedersen, J. B. Steen, and H. Brøseth. 2003. Predation of eggs and incubating females in willow ptarmigan Lagopus l. lagopus. Fauna Norvegica 23:1–8.
- Myers, R. A., J. A. Hutchings, and N. J. Barrowman. 1997. Why do fish stocks collapse? The example of cod in Atlantic Canada. Ecological Applications 7:91–106.
- Myrberget, S. 1988. Demography of an island population of willow ptarmigan in northern Norway. Pages 379–419 *in* A. T. Bergerud and M. W. Gratson, editors. Adaptive strategies and population ecology of northern grouse. University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, Minnesota.
- Naranjo, E. J., and R. E. Bodmer. 2007. Source-sink systems and conservation of hunted ungulates in the Lacandon Forest, Mexico. Biological Conservation 138:412–420.
- Newton, S. F. 1993. Body condition of a small passerine bird: Ultrasonic assessment and significance in overwinter survival. Journal of Zoology 229:561–580.
- Nilsen, E. B., T. Pettersen, H. Gundersen, J. M. Milner, A. Mysterud, E. J. Solberg, H. P. Andreassen, and N. C. Stenseth. 2005. Moose harvesting strategies in the presence of wolves. Journal of Applied Ecology 42:389–399.
- Nilsen, E. B., R. Vang, M. Kjønsberg, and M. A. J. Kvasnes. 2020. Tetraonid line transect surveys from Norway: Data from Fjellstyrene. Version 1.3. Norwegian Institute for Nature Research. Sampling event dataset. https://doi.org/10.15468/975ski.
- Novaro, A. J., M. C. Funes, and R. S. Walker. 2005. An empirical test of source-sink dynamics induced by hunting. Journal of Applied Ecology 42:910–920.
- Novaro, A. J., K. H. Redford, and R. E. Bodmer. 2000. Effect of hunting in source-sink systems in the Neotropics. Conservation Biology 14:713–721.
- Olsen, E. M., M. R. Heupel, C. A. Simpfendorfer, and E. Moland. 2012. Harvest selection on Atlantic cod behavioral traits: Implications for spatial management. Ecology and Evolution 2:1549–1562.
- Packer, C., H. Brink, B. M. Kissui, H. Maliti, H. Kushnir, and T. Caro. 2011. Effects of trophy hunting on lion and leopard populations in Tanzania. Conservation Biology 25:142–153.

- Pärt, T. 1991. Philopatry pays: A comparison between collared flycatcher sisters. The American Naturalist 138:790–796.
- Pärt, T. 1995. The importance of local familiarity and search costs for age- and sex-biased philopatry in the collared flycatcher. Animal Behaviour 49:1029–1038.
- Peres, C. A. 1997. Effects of habitat quality and hunting pressure on arboreal folivore densities in neotropical forests: A case study of howler monkeys (Alouatta spp.). Folia Primatologica 68:199–222.
- Pöysä, H., J. Rintala, A. Lehikoinen, and R. A. Väisänen. 2013. The importance of hunting pressure, habitat preference and life history for population trends of breeding waterbirds in Finland. European Journal of Wildlife Research 59:245–256.
- Pulliam, H. R. 1988. Sources, sinks and population regulation. American Naturalist 132:652-661.
- Pusey, A. E. 1987. Sex-biased dispersal and inbreeding avoidance in birds and mammals. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 2:295–299.
- R Core Team. 2018. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Robinson, J. G., and K. H. Redford. 1991. Sustainable harvest of Neotropical forest animals. Pages 415–429 Neotropical wildlife use and conservation. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois.
- Rogers, T. W. 1969. Migration prediction on the basis of prior migratory behavior: A methodological note. International Migration 7:13–19.
- Rorvik, K. A., H. C. Pedersen, and J. B. Steen. 1998. Dispersal in willow ptarmigan Lagopus lagopus who is dispersing and why? Wildlife Biology 4:91–96.
- Rose, G. A., and S. Rowe. 2015. Northern cod comeback. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 72:1789–1798.
- Salo, M., A. Sirén, and R. Kalliola. 2013. Resource dynamics behind the provision from nature. Pages 223–257 Diagnosing Wild Species Harvest: Resource Use and Conservation. Academic Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Sandercock, B. K., E. B. Nilsen, H. Brøseth, and H. C. Pedersen. 2011. Is hunting mortality additive or compensatory to natural mortality? Effects of experimental harvest on the survival and cause-specific mortality of willow ptarmigan. Journal of Animal Ecology 80:244–258.
- Schaub, M., A. Aebischer, O. Gimenez, S. Berger, and R. Arlettaz. 2010. Massive immigration balances high anthropogenic mortality in a stable eagle owl population: Lessons for conservation. Biological Conservation 143:1911–1918.
- Schieck, J. O., and S. J. Hannon. 1989. Breeding site fidelity in willow ptarmigan: The influence of previous reproductive success and familiarity with partner and territory. Oecologia 81:465– 472.
- Schorr, R. A., P. M. Lukacs, and G. L. Florant. 2009. Body mass and winter severity as predictors of overwinter survival in Preble's meadow jumping mouse. Journal of Mammalogy 90:17–24.
- Schroeder, M. A. 1985. Behavioral differences of female spruce grouse undertaking short and long migrations. The Condor 87:281–286.
- Slade, N. A., R. Gomulkiewicz, and H. M. Alexander. 1998. Alternatives to Robinson and Redford's method of assessing overharvest from incomplete demographic data. Conservation Biology 12:148–155.
- Smith, A., and T. Willebrand. 1999. Mortality causes and survival rates of hunted and unhunted willow grouse. The Journal of Wildlife Management 63:722–730.
- Smith, M. A., and D. M. Green. 2005. Dispersal and the metapopulation paradigm in amphibian ecology and conservation: Are all amphibian populations metapopulations? Ecography 28:110–128.
- Stamps, J. A. 1988. Conspecific attraction and aggregation in territorial species. American

Naturalist 131:329-347.

- Stavnås, V. M. 2018. Demographic determinants of population growth rate in willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus ) in Lierne, central Norway. NTNU.
- Steen, J. B., and O. A. Haugvold. 2009. Cause of death in willow ptarmigan Lagopus l. lagopus chicks and the effect of intensive, local predator control on chick production. Wildlife Biology 15:53–59.
- Stevens, M. H. H. 2010. Analyzing the projection model: Sensitivity and elasticity. Pages 46–48 in R. Gentleman, K. Hornik, and G. Parmigiani, editors. A primer of Ecology with R. Springer, New York, New York.
- Stoner, D. C., M. L. Wolfe, and D. M. Choate. 2006. Cougar exploitation levels in Utah: Implications for demographic structure, population recovery, and metapopulation dynamics. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:1588–1600.
- Storch, I. 2007. Grouse: Status survey and conservation action plan 2006-2010. Pages 32–34 IUCN—The World Conservation Union Founded. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK and World Pheasant Association, Fordingbridge, UK.
- Thiollay, J. M. 1984. Raptor community structure of a primary rain forest in French Guiana and effect of human hunting pressure. Journal of Raptor Research 18:117–122.
- Thiollay, J. M. 2005. Effects of hunting on guianan forest game birds. Biodiversity and Conservation 14:1121–1135.
- Thirgood, S. J., S. M. Redpath, P. J. Hudson, M. M. Hurley, and N. J. Aebischer. 1995. Effects of necklace radio transmitters on survival and breeding success of red grouse Lagopus lagopus scoticus. Wildlife Biology 1:121–126.
- Van Mantgem, P. J., and N. L. Stephenson. 2005. The accuracy of matrix population model projections for coniferous trees in the Sierra Nevada, California. Journal of Ecology 93:737– 747.
- Ward, M. P., and S. Schlossberg. 2004. Conspecific attraction and the conservation of territorial songbirds. Conservation Biology 18:519–525.
- Wickham, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer, Verlag, New York.
- Wielgus, R. B., D. E. Morrison, H. S. Cooley, and B. Maletzke. 2013. Effects of male trophy hunting on female carnivore population growth and persistence. Biological Conservation 167:69–75.
- Willebrand, T., and M. Hörnell. 2001. Understanding the effects of harvesting willow ptarmigan Lagopus lagopus in Sweden. Wildlife Biology 7:205–212.
- Yoder, J. M., E. A. Marschall, and D. A. Swanson. 2004. The cost of dispersal: Predation as a function of movement and site familiarity in ruffed grouse. Behavioral Ecology 15:469–476.

# 7 Appendices

# 7.1 Appendix A

Hypothesis H1: *Willow ptarmigan movement is influenced by state (i.e. sex, age).* 

- Prediction P1.1: <u>Seasonal movement</u>: Adults will remain in their breeding territory, only migrating out of it during the winter months (Kvasnes et al. 2015).
- Prediction P1.2: <u>Adult breeding dispersal</u>: Adults will return to their breeding territory from the preceding year (Hannon et al. 1998).
- Prediction P1.3: <u>Juvenile spring movement</u>: Juveniles will move farther distances than adults during the seasonal movement between winter and summer territories (Brøseth et al. 2005).
- Hypothesis H2: Willow ptarmigan movement is influenced by conspecific attraction.
  - Prediction P2: <u>Juvenile post winter dispersal</u>: Juveniles will move into areas with higher conspecific abundance after leaving their first year settlement to establish a breeding territory (Kvasnes et al. 2015).
- Hypothesis H3: The consequences of different harvest strategies are influenced by the age-specific movement pattern of the willow ptarmigan population.
  - Prediction P2: I expected the outcomes of testing different harvest regimes in a spatially explicit predictive harvest model to be influenced by the results from the predicted movement patterns indicated in Part 1 (Boyce et al. 1999, Hörnell-Willebrand et al. 2014).

# 7.2 Appendix B



Fig. 7. Map of the Lierne municipality in eastern central Norway with management cells outlined in black. Each ptarmigan observation is represented by a red circle.

# 7.3 Appendix C

Table 2. Descriptive statistics for movement distance analyses. Quantile ranges, mean, SD = Standard deviation in kilometers. N = Sample size.

|           |          | 25% | Median | 75%  | Mean | SD   | Ν  |
|-----------|----------|-----|--------|------|------|------|----|
| Seasonal  | Male     | 0.6 | 0.9    | 1.7  | 1.9  | 2.8  | 45 |
| movement  | Female   | 1.8 | 7.2    | 16.5 | 10.3 | 11.2 | 46 |
| Breeding  | Male     | 0.4 | 0.8    | 1.4  | 2.8  | 6.5  | 14 |
| dispersal | Female   | 0.1 | 0.9    | 3.3  | 2.4  | 3.3  | 15 |
| Spring    | Adult    | 0.8 | 1.8    | 7.6  | 6.2  | 9.2  | 91 |
| movement  | Juvenile | 0.9 | 2.8    | 6.9  | 5.7  | 7.1  | 68 |



